I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court below permitted the Langes to have a deck that not only encroaches on the Guests' property, but that abuts the Guests' house and extends beyond the Guests' master bedroom window.

The Guests are left with no privacy, as the Langes concede that they can hear and see what goes on in the Guests' bedroom when the Langes use the deck. The Guests have also lost the use of their property. The Langes promised the Guests in 2010 and in 2011 that when the Langes tore down their deck that the Langes' new deck would stay within the bounds of the Langes' adjacent Lot 4 property or would only be constructed on Lot 5 with the Guests' advance permission and consent. The Langes submitted and received approval from the Spinnaker Ridge Community Association, Inc.'s ("SRCA") Architectural Control Committee ("ACC") and from the Guests to build a reduced deck. Despite these promises, the Langes built a new deck while the Guests were out of town that encroached on the Guests' property and abutted their home. The Langes did so without a permit from the City of Gig Harbor and with full knowledge that the deck improperly encroached on Lot 5.

The Guests filed suit trying to preserve their property and other rights and their privacy in their own home, arguing that the Langes breached contractual promises to not build their deck up against and beyond the Guests' bedroom window, breached the restrictions imposed on SRCA members by the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions ("CC&Rs"),

breached the Langes' duties of good faith and fair dealing to the Guests, and trespassed on Lot 5.

A number of errors operated to deny the Guests a fair trial, including the trial court's dismissal of the Guests' breach of the CC&Rs claim; refusal to modify a partial summary judgment order when confronted with evidence that the document on which the Langes based their right to an easement was invalid; ignoring the plain language of the Langes' indemnity, release, and hold harmless agreement; and the trial court's erroneous instruction of the jury.

Due to these prejudicial errors, the Guests request that this Court vacate the judgment and orders in the Langes' favor and remand to the trial court for a new trial. The Guests also ask that this Court direct the trial court to enter judgment in the Guests favor indemnity, release, and hold harmless agreement with a hearing on the Guests' trial and other related damages, costs and expenses and fees. Finally, the Guests ask that this Court award them their costs, expenses, and fees on appeal pursuant to RAP 18.1 and the defense, hold harmless, release and full indemnity provisions.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying the Guests' motion to amend their complaint.

2. The trial court erred in dismissing the Guests' breach of contract claim based on the 1986 CC&Rs and other SRCA governing documents.

3. The trial court erred in finding that the document recorded under Pierce County Assessor No. 8704290509 (the “1987 recorded document”) created a valid easement for the benefit of Lot 4.

4. The trial court erred in refusing to modify the summary judgment order upholding the validity of the 1987 recorded document.

5. The trial court erred in denying the Guests’ motion in limine as to the invalidity of the 1987 recorded document.

6. The trial court erred in instructing the jury as to the definition of “consideration” in Jury Instruction No. 9.

7. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury as to the duty of good faith and fair dealing.

8. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that the 1987 recorded document created a valid easement.

9. The trial court erred in granting the Langes’ motion for summary judgment as to the Guests’ claim for indemnity and denying the Guests’ motion for partial summary judgment that the Langes’ counterclaims against the Guests were barred by the 1987 recorded document.

10. The trial court erred when it entered judgment in favor of the Langes and quieted title in their favor.

III. ISSUE STATEMENTS

1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying the Guests’ motion to file an amended complaint when the Guests’ amended complaint was necessitated by delayed discovery from the Langes, the Langes failed

to show substantial prejudice by the amendment, and mere delay of the trial date is insufficient to deny the relief. (Assignment of Error No. 1).

2. The trial court erred in granting the Langes' motion for summary judgment as to the Guests' claim for breach of contract regarding the CC&Rs when a member of an association has a right to bring a claim for breach of the CC&Rs. (Assignment of Error No. 2).

3. The trial court erred in refusing to modify the partial summary judgment order finding that the 1987 recorded document created a valid easement in favor of Lot 4 when partial summary judgment orders are interlocutory in nature and the Guests timely presented evidence demonstrating a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the purported "grantor" of the 1987 recorded document actually owned Lot 5 as well as other evidence that the 1987 recorded document was null, void and invalid. (Assignments of Error Nos. 3, 4, 5, 8).

4. The trial court erred in giving Jury Instruction No. 9 which misstates the definition of "consideration." (Assignment of Error No. 6).

5. The trial court erred in failing to give a jury instruction defining the duty of good faith and fair dealing after agreeing to do so. (Assignment of Error No. 7).

6. The trial court erred in giving Jury Instruction No. 17 instructing the jury that the Court had found that the Langes had the right to construct a deck on the Guests' Lot 5 property and use and maintain that deck as a matter of law under the 1987 recorded document. (Assignment of Error No. 8).

7. The trial court erred in construing the defense, release, hold harmless and indemnity provision of the 1987 recorded document (“Section D”) to exclude claims between the Guests and the Langes when the plain language of the indemnity contract includes claims by any parties and was not ambiguous. (Assignments of Error Nos. 9, 10).

8. Did the trial court’s errors with regard to motions in limine and jury instructions constitute cumulative error that deprived the Guests of their right to a fair trial? (Assignments of Error 5, 6, 7, and 8).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Guests and the Langes are adjoining property owners who share a single border along the north-south portion of Lot 4 and Lot 5 in the Spinnaker Ridge development in Gig Harbor.¹ The Langes have owned Lot 4 since 1993 and the Guests have owned Lot 5 since 2004.² This matter involves a deck constructed by the Langes that encroaches onto Lot 5 and abuts the Guests’ house and extends beyond their master bedroom window.³

There are two alleged easements at issue in this case. One concerns an approximately 5’ wide by 21’ long strip that encroaches onto the Guests’ Lot 5 property. The Langes contend that this is permitted by a document purportedly executed by Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc. in 1987 and recorded under Pierce County Auditor No. 8704290509 (the “1987 recorded document”).⁴ The second alleged easement involves an area approximately 3’ long by 5’

¹ CP at 340.

² CP at 358 – 59.

³ See CP at 533 – 34, 561, 580.

⁴ CP at 1093.

wide that also extends onto the Guests' Lot 5 property, which is not covered by the 1987 recorded document.⁵ The 1986 CC&Rs on which the Langes relied to support their claim to the 3' by 5' alleged easement severely restricted the creation of easements on adjoining parcels.⁶

In September 2010, the Langes notified the Guests that they planned to tear down and rebuild their deck the next spring in 2011.⁷ The Langes also disclosed that their existing deck encroached on the Guests' property by approximately 5' wide down the length of Lot 5. At or around the same time, the Guests disclosed to the Langes their intent to build a wrap-around deck on the back, south, and west sides of Lot 5, which would include the portion of Lot 5 occupied by the Langes' deck.⁸ In January 2011, the parties had further discussions about the decks and the Guests showed the Langes the 1987 recorded document and reminded the Langes that the 1987 recorded document "required shared and/or mutual use of any deck that any Lot 4 owner constructed on any portion of Lot 5. . . ." and that there was an indemnity provision in the document that required that the Langes indemnify the Guests.⁹

The Guests also objected to the Langes building a deck on Lot 5, particularly the southwest side and corner of Lot 5.¹⁰ The Langes stated that they did not want to encroach on Lot 5, agreed to back the new deck away

⁵ VRP (April 19, 2013) at 12 – 13.

⁶ CP at 424; Exhibit 14.

⁷ CP at 341.

⁸ CP at 341.

⁹ CP at 341 – 42; VRP (July 14, 2014) at 124:13 to 125:13.

¹⁰ CP at 342.

from the Guests' master bedroom, and affirmed that the deck they built would not encroach.¹¹ The Langes later informed the Guests that they did not want to build a continuous, shared deck on Lots 4 and 5 and did not want to share the area at issue.¹²

In the spring of 2011, the Langes provided the Guests with deck plans that included a graph paper hand drawing created by David Lange that outlined the previous alleged easement area and the 3' by 5' encroachment with the words "Vacated Easement" written inside that area.¹³ As demonstrated in Suzanne Guest's declaration in support of the plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment, the computer schematic deck plans showing the entire removal of the Lange deck from Lot 5 and the hand drawing "graphically confirmed the removal of the 3' x 5' encroachment [and was] consistent with the Langes' confirmation to [the Guests] in January 2011 that the[Langes] would not encroach on [Lot 5] and . . . did not want to build a continuous Lot 4 and Lot 5 deck."¹⁴ The Guests then notified the Langes that they approved of the proposed plans.¹⁵

On March 12, the Langes submitted a letter to the ACC requesting approval of this reduced deck, stating that the City of Gig Harbor had informed the Langes that their prior deck impermissibly encroached on Lot 5 and that they were vacating the easement on Lot 5.¹⁶ The letter

¹¹ CP at 342, 580.

¹² CP at 342.

¹³ CP at 342 – 43, 347 – 48.

¹⁴ CP at 343. *See also* CP at 581 (Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment).

¹⁵ CP at 343.

¹⁶ CP at 395, 397, 399, 401.

referred to and attached the hand drawn schematic the Langes had previously provided to the Guests and the Trex computer schematics showing complete removal of the Lange deck from Lot 5. The same day, the Langes notified the Guests of their submission to the ACC and asked for the Guests' permission to build their new deck up to the southwest corner of the Guests' house.¹⁷ The Guests declined to consent. On March 14, 2011, after the ACC approved the Langes' deck plans, the Langes emailed the Guests stating, "David just returned from the Architectural Committee meeting and they have approved the deck as we outlined it for you – we will not build to the end of your house on the 5' alley as we had requested in our email."¹⁸ However, while the Guests were out of town and with knowledge that they were exceeding the legal boundaries of Lot 4, the Langes built their new deck on Lot 5 contrary to their express agreement with the Guests.¹⁹ The Langes did not seek permission from the ACC or the Guests before acting on the new revised deck plans. Instead, the Langes simply notified the ACC Chair by letter that they were going to rebuild the deck as it previously existed.²⁰ Construction of the deck began in early April 2011 while the Guests were out of town.²¹

The Guests filed their original complaint on December 6, 2011, and their First Amended Complaint on October 15, 2012.²² These complaints

¹⁷ CP at 344, 354.

¹⁸ CP at 356.

¹⁹ CP at 345.

²⁰ CP at 408.

²¹ CP at 410.

²² CP at 1, 32.

asserted four claims against David and Karen Lange: (1) breach of contract, (2) trespass to land and injunction, (3) breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and (4) indemnity.²³ The Guests sought damages, attorney fees, equitable and prejudgment interest, leave to amend the complaint as necessary, injunction and other legal and equitable relief as the court deemed appropriate.²⁴ The Langes answered, denying the Guests' claims and counterclaiming to quiet title in the alleged easement areas, for trespass, for an injunction enjoining the Guests from trespassing on the Langes' deck, an injunction to prevent the Guests from invading the Langes' privacy, and for exclusive use of the Langes' deck.²⁵

On January 29, 2013, the Guests moved to file their second amended complaint.²⁶ The Guests also requested a six-month continuance, due to the Langes' failure to comply with their primary witness disclosure deadline, the Langes' late discovery responses and new facts recently learned by the Guests.²⁷ In their proposed second amended complaint, the Guests sought to add David Lange in his capacity as a Spinnaker Ridge Trustee, the SRCA, Karen Lange in her capacity as a de facto and former Spinnaker Ridge Trustee, the Spinnaker Ridge Board of Trustees, and individual Board of Trustees including John English, John Farrington, Gary Williamson, and John and Jane Doe defendants.²⁸ The Guests sought to assert causes of

²³ CP at 38 – 40.

²⁴ CP at 41.

²⁵ CP at 42 – 51.

²⁶ CP at 213.

²⁷ CP at 62 – 63, 213 – 217.

²⁸ CP at 76 – 77.

action against the defendants for breach of contract; trespass to land; breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; contractual and common law indemnity; negligence and negligence per se; breach of fiduciary duties; violation of RCW 4.24.630; promissory, equitable, and judicial estoppel; malicious abuse of process; civil conspiracy; the tort of outrage; false light; spoliation and concealment of evidence; insurance bad faith; prima facie tort and violations of the trustees' code of ethics and business practices.²⁹

The Langes objected, arguing that the deadline to file confirmation of joinder had passed eight months before, and that the Guests were trying to file “a monstrous 135-page Second Amended Complaint asserting eleven new causes of action against the Langes and five-plus new co-defendants.”³⁰ The Langes' claimed prejudice due to the expanded scope of litigation and delay in resolving a divisive dispute.³¹ The Langes disputed that Guests' motion was filed late because of delayed discovery, claiming that correspondence showed the Guests were aware of the role various parties played.³² The Langes also opposed the motion because the claims asserted by the Guests were allegedly futile.³³

The trial court denied the Guests' motion to amend because the deadline for confirmation of joinder had passed, the trial date would have to be continued if so many additional parties were added, and there was prejudice to Langes. The trial court found that there was no good cause for

²⁹ CP at 159 – 205.

³⁰ CP at 222.

³¹ CP at 222.

³² CP at 227, 247 – 80.

³³ CP at 227.

amending the Guests' complaint past the deadline for the confirmation of joinder.³⁴

The Guests moved for summary judgment as to the Langes' counterclaims, arguing, *inter alia*, that the Guests could not trespass on their own land and that Section D of the 1987 recorded document required the Langes to indemnify, defend and hold the Guests harmless for this matter. The Guests also raised the Langes' unclean hands as an additional bar to any Lange suit and/or recovery.³⁵

The Langes also moved for summary judgment, seeking dismissal of all of the Guests' claims and their affirmative defense of unclean hands.³⁶ The Langes argued that the court should dismiss the Guests' breach of contract claim because the parties did not enter into a binding agreement to vacate or terminate a portion of their alleged rights under the 1987 recorded document or the CC&Rs.³⁷ The Langes argued that any alleged agreement failed because (1) any document revoking an express easement must comply with the requirements of a deed in RCW 64.04.010, and (2) a contract for the conveyance of real property must be in writing and supported by consideration.³⁸ The Langes claimed that the contract between the Guests and Langes failed because the Langes agreed to

³⁴ VRP (Feb. 8, 2013) at 7.

³⁵ CP at 302 – 320; 341-356; CP 604:4 – 15.

³⁶ CP at 357.

³⁷ CP at 365.

³⁸ CP at 365 - 68.

relinquish a portion of their deck without a corresponding promise by the Guests to perform.³⁹

The Langes also argued that there is no implied duty of good faith and fair dealing because the Guests had failed to demonstrate the existence of an enforceable contract.⁴⁰

Further, the Langes argued that the trial court should dismiss the Guests' trespass claim because they have a legal right to maintain their deck in its current location and are entitled to exclusive possession of the deck, and that the CC&Rs create a right to use the 3' x 5' overhang.⁴¹

Finally, the Langes argued Section D of the 1987 recorded document did not apply because the Guests' alleged harm arose from the Guests' choice to sue the Langes, not from the use of the easement. However, by so arguing, the Langes acknowledged and admitted that they were subject to the terms of Section D.⁴² The Langes claimed that a contract for indemnity protects the promisee against claims arising from liability only to a third party.⁴³

The trial court granted the Langes' motion as to all but the claim of unclean hands, duty of good faith and fair dealing, trespass, and breach of contract to vacate the easement and the 3' x 5' encroachment.⁴⁴ The trial court dismissed the Langes' trespass claim because the Guests had a right

³⁹ CP at 368.

⁴⁰ CP at 369 – 70.

⁴¹ CP at 370 – 74.

⁴² CP at 374.

⁴³ CP at 375 – 76 (also citing *City of Tacoma v. City of Bonney Lake*, 173 Wn.2d 584, 593, 269 P.3d 1017 (2012); *Taylor v. Browning*, 129 Idaho 483, 493, 927 P.2d 873 (1996)).

⁴⁴ CP at 940 – 41.

to be on the Langes' deck because the Guests owned the underlying land and also because any alleged damages were de minimus.⁴⁵ However, the trial court denied the Guests' motion to dismiss all of the Langes' claims pursuant to Section D of the 1987 recorded document.⁴⁶

The Guests also moved for reconsideration of the trial court's dismissal of their claims regarding Section D of the 1987 recorded document.⁴⁷ The trial court denied the motion.⁴⁸

As a result of the pre-trial rulings, three issues remained for trial. The first was whether the Langes had entered into a contract with the Guests not to build a new deck in an area where it had previously existed. The second, related, issue was whether the Langes had breached their covenant of good faith and fair dealing with the Guests by building the deck despite their promises. The third was whether the Langes and the Langes' deck trespassed on the Guest's property.

A six-day jury trial was held between July 8, 2014 and July 16, 2014. Shortly before trial commenced, the parties filed written motions in limine.⁴⁹ One of the Guests' motions asked the trial court to exclude "[a]ny testimony, evidence and/or argument that there is any Lot 4 deck or any other easement on Lot 5."⁵⁰ The trial court briefly considered this motion,

⁴⁵ VRP (April 19, 2013) at 38 – 40.

⁴⁶ VRP (April 19, 2013) at 38 – 39. In their motion for reconsideration, the Langes expressly noted that the trial court's dismissal of the Langes' trespass claim against the Guests could result in inconsistencies at trial. CP at 802 – 803.

⁴⁷ CP at 1037 – 41, 1247 – 49.

⁴⁸ CP at 1437 – 38.

⁴⁹ CP at 4032 – 38, 4049 – 52.

⁵⁰ CP at 4033.

but denied it.⁵¹ The primary basis for the judge's decision was that he viewed the summary judgment decision on this point to be "the law of the case" which he was unwilling to change.⁵²

On the second day of trial, Mrs. Guest attempted to ask Mr. Lange if "we had an agreement with you that you would not build . . . on part of our land in March of 2011."⁵³ Counsel for the Langes objected to the form of the question, and was sustained.⁵⁴ Mrs. Guest rephrased the question as "[w]e had an agreement, and you made a promise to us that you would not build on that section of our land in March of 2011, did you not?"⁵⁵ This too was subject to objection, and the objection was sustained on the grounds that the question was argumentative.⁵⁶ As a result, Mrs. Guest was not able to ask Mr. Lange if the parties in fact had an agreement that the Langes would not build their deck on the Guest's land.

The Guests submitted evidence at trial that Nu-Dawn Homes Limited Partnership (not Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc.) was the developer and that Nu Dawn Homes Limited Partnership (not Nu-Dawn Homes Inc.) was also a joint fee simple titled owner of the SRD real property including all the SRD Lots along with Seafirst Mortgage Corporation.⁵⁷ The Guests also argued at trial that the SRCA Articles of Incorporation did not permit any Lot 4 easement on any part of Lot 5, and that the SRCA recorded plat and

⁵¹ VRP (July 8, 2014) at 28:3 to 31:22.

⁵² VRP (July 8, 2014) at 30:6 to 31:9.

⁵³ VRP (July 9, 2014) at 84:1-3.

⁵⁴ VRP (July 9, 2014) at 84:4 – 6

⁵⁵ VRP (July 9, 2014) at 84:10 – 14.

⁵⁶ VRP (July 9, 2014) at 84:10 – 14.

⁵⁷ Ex. 20; VRP (July 10, 2014) at 39:15 – 40:5; VRP (July 14, 2014) at 165:3 – 166:7.

its certified survey did not evidence any Lot 4 deck easement on any part of Lot 5.⁵⁸

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