IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER GUEST AND SUZANNE GUEST,

Appellants,

v.

DAVID LANGE AND KAREN LANGE,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Irene M. Hecht, WSBA #11063 Maureen M. Falecki, WSBA #18569 **KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3052 Telephone: (206) 623-1900 Facsimile: (206) 623-3384

Attorneys for Respondents

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

Here, there is no provision in the Spinnaker Ridge CC&Rs that gives a homeowner the right to make a claim for damages against another homeowner based on an alleged violation of the Encroachment Easement. Nor does §16.4 of the CC&Rs contain any sort of contractual promise on which the Guests can base a breach of contract claim. Under the terms of §16.4, if the owner of Lot 4 intentionally encroaches on Lot 5, then no encroachment easement exists.⁷⁷ Under §16.4, either the Langes have the right to encroach or they do not. There is nothing in §16.4 upon which the

⁷⁷ CP 424.

Guests can assert a breach of contract claim for the alleged 3' x 5' encroachment.⁷⁸

Moreover, a claim is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief. *See*, *SEIU Healthcare 775NW v. Gregoire*, 168 Wash.2d 593, 602, 229 P.3d 774, 779 (2010); *City of Sequim v. Malkasian*, 157 Wn.2d 251, 259, 138 P.3d 943, 947-48 (2006). The Guests' breach of contract claim based on the CC&Rs was premised on an allegation that the Langes built their deck so as to intentionally encroach beyond the Patio or Deck Easement. But this claim has been rendered moot by the jury's finding that the Langes are not liable for trespass with respect to the 3 x 5 foot encroachment. That finding conclusively establishes that the Guests failed to prove the Langes knowingly built the deck so as to intentionally encroach beyond the area identified in the Patio or Deck Easement.⁷⁹ Accordingly, the trial court's order dismissing the Guests' contract claim should be affirmed.

.

⁷⁸ The Guests' reliance on trial Exhibit 14 for their argument that the CC&Rs create a contract is misplaced because (1) the exhibit was not part of the record before the trial court when it entered the order dismissing the Guests' breach of contract claim; and (2) §14.1 does not confer a right to assert a breach of contract claim for the recovery of damages; instead, it provides a homeowner with the authority to file suit to *enforce* a covenant – the Guests' Amended Complaint did not allege a claim to enforce any covenants within the CC&Rs.

⁷⁹ See Instructions No. 11 and 12, CP 4751-4753.

C. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed The Guests' Indemnity Claim Because The Indemnity Provision In The Patio or Deck Easement Is Triggered Only When A Claim Is Asserted Against The Guests For Injuries Sustained By Others Arising Out Of The Use Of The Patio or Deck Easement.

The trial court properly dismissed the Guests' indemnity claim because the indemnity provision in the Patio or Deck Easement is triggered only when a claim is asserted against the Guests by third parties for injuries sustained while using the Patio or Deck Easement.

Words in a contract are to be given "their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning[.]" *Viking Bank v. Firgrove Commons 3, LLC*, 183 Wn. App. 706, 713, 334 P.3d 116, 120 (2014), quoting *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 504, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005). Contract interpretation is a question of law and is subject to *de novo* review. *Pac. Indem. Co. v. Bloedel Timberlands Dev., Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 466, 468, 624 P.2d 734, 736 (1981).

"Indemnity agreements are subject to the fundamental rules of contract construction, *i.e.*, the intent of the parties['] controls; this intent must be inferred from the contract as a whole; the meaning afforded the provision and the whole contract must be reasonable and consistent with the purpose of the overall undertaking \$16.4" *Knipschield v. C-J Recreation, Inc.*, 74 Wn. App. 212, 215, 872 P.2d 1102, 1104 (1994). The provision must be read as the average person would read it; it should be given a

"practical and reasonable rather than a literal interpretation," and not a "strained or forced construction" leading to absurd results. *Eurick v. Pemco Ins. Co.*, 108 Wn. 2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d 251, 252 (1987), quoting *E-Z Loader Boat Trailers, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 901, 907, 726 P.2d 439, 443 (1986).

An indemnity clause is "[a] contractual provision in which one party agrees to answer for any specified or unspecified liability or harm that the other party might incur." Black's Law Dictionary, 837-38 (9th ed. 2004). The Indemnity provision in Section D of the Patio or Deck Easement provides as follows:

Grantee promises, covenants, and agrees that the Grantor shall not be liable for any injuries incurred by the Grantee, the Grantee's guests and/or third parties arising from the utilization of said easement and further Grantee agrees to hold Grantor harmless and defend and fully indemnify Grantor against any and all claims, actions, and suits arising from the utilization of said easement and to satisfy and [sic] all judgments that may result from said claims, actions and/or suits.⁸⁰

The Guests' argument that Section D bars the Langes from defending against the Guests' claims in this lawsuit, bars the Langes from asserting any counterclaims and requires the Langes to defend the Guests with respect

30

⁸⁰ CP 431.

to those counterclaims, is wholly unreasonable and contrary to controlling Washington law.

The Washington Supreme Court decision in *City of Tacoma v. City of Bonney Lake*, 173 Wn.2d 584, 593, 269 P.3d 1017, 1022 (2012) (granting direct review from the trial court) is directly on point. In *City of Tacoma*, Tacoma sued the defendant municipalities under a franchise agreement between the parties that included an indemnity provision. One of the issues before the Court was whether the indemnity provision required Tacoma (indemnitor) to indemnify the Municipalities (indemnitees) with respect to the lawsuit Tacoma filed against the Municipalities, as well as defend the City of Federal Way in the lawsuit. *Id.* at 593. The pertinent provision in the indemnity clause provided:

[Tacoma] hereby releases, covenants not to bring suit and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City... from any and all claims, costs, judgments, awards or liability to any person."

Id. The Municipalities argued that the indemnity provision precluded Tacoma from filing any action under the contract because any enforcement action to compel performance would be a "claim" arising under the contract subject to the indemnity provision. *Id.* The Supreme Court expressly rejected this argument, holding:

While this language [in the indemnity provision] is undeniably broad, it does not prevent Tacoma, a party to the

contract, from suing the Municipalities, another party to the contract. Concluding otherwise would produce the absurd result of precluding a party to a contract from disputing its obligations under that contract."

Id. (emphasis added)

The City of Federal Way also argued that the indemnity provision required Tacoma to defend it in the lawsuit. The Court rejected that argument as well, holding that to interpret the indemnity provision so as to force Tacoma to bear all costs of litigation when there was any dispute over contractual performance between parties, likewise "produces an absurd result." *Id.* at 594.⁸¹ This is exactly the same argument and interpretation of the indemnity provision the Guests ask this Court to make in this case; the Guests' interpretation is unreasonable and produces an absurd result, and was properly rejected by the trial court.

Notably, the Guests do not address the Supreme Court's decision in *City of Tacoma*; instead, they rely on an appellate court decision, *Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 86, 285 P.3d 70 (2012), *rev. denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1015, 287 P.3d 10 (2012),

-

⁸¹ See also, Taylor v. Browning, 129 Idaho 483, 493, 927 P.2d 873, 883 (1996) (holding that indemnity clause did not bar indemnitor's claim against indemnitee because there was no liability to a third party, and it would be unreasonable to interpret it as such as it would allow the indemnitee to breach the contract and then declare himself harmless); ProtecoTech, Inc. v Unicity Int'l. Inc., 547 F. Supp. 2d 1174, 1180 (W.D. Wash. 2008) (finding that the plaintiff's argument would "transform the indemnification clause into a blank check to sue and collect attorney fees" and rejecting such an unreasonable interpretation.)

for the proposition that the indemnity agreement can reasonably be interpreted to bar the Langes' counterclaims and require the Langes to bear all costs for the Guests' lawsuit. That reliance is wholly misplaced. The indemnity provision in *Newport Yacht* was interpreted to bind the indemnitor with respect to claims asserted against the indemnitee *by third parties*, an interpretation entirely consistent with the trial court's ruling in this case.

The Guests' second argument, that "the trial court decided *sua sponte* that the issues in this case did not arise out from the utilization of the easement" so as to preclude the alleged enforcement of the indemnity provision, misstates the trial court's conclusion. The trial court interpreted the indemnity provision to apply in the event the Langes, their guests, or anyone else *sustained injuries arising from their use* of Patio or Deck Easement, but the trial court noted that the present lawsuit was not such a case. Instead, the trial court explained that "this case is about whether [the Langes] have the right to use this property," i.e., the easement. 83

The trial court's interpretation of the indemnity provision is the only reasonable interpretation and is consistent with the Washington Supreme Court's decision in *City of Tacoma*. Accordingly, there being no claims for

⁸² Appellants' Brief at p. 30.

⁸³ RP (April 19, 2013) at p. 35, lines 16-19.

injuries asserted against the Guests arising out of the use of the easement; the indemnity provision is not triggered. The trial court's order dismissing the Guests' indemnity claim should be affirmed.

D. There Is No Basis For Finding That The Trial Court Erred In Not Considering the Guests' Argument and "New Evidence" That The Patio or Deck Easement Was Invalid Because The Guests Never Timely Argued Or Presented Evidence That The Easement Was Invalid.

In their Amended Complaint, the Guests affirmatively alleged that both the Guests and the Langes are bound by the Patio or Deck Easement. He Guests also rely on the validity of the Patio or Deck Easement to support their indemnity claim against the Langes. However, on appeal, the Guests disavow the Easement to defeat the Langes' right to maintain their deck within the Easement. In doing so, the Guests summarily argue that the trial court erred in allegedly "refusing to consider as untimely" their argument that the Patio or Deck Easement was invalid, claiming that "the alleged grantor [of the Patio or Deck Easement] did not own lot 5" and that the signature on the Easement was a forgery. The Guests rely on a declaration authored by Ms. Guest, dated May 6, 2013, for their argument and "evidence" that the Easement is invalid. However, the Guests' appeal

⁸⁴ CP 37, ¶3.17. While the Guests argued in opposition to the Langes' motion for summary judgment that the Patio or Deck Easement was invalid because the signature was not notarized, that argument was rejected and the Guests have not offered any argument on appeal that the trial court erred in doing so.

⁸⁵ Appellants' Brief at pps. 24-25.

on this issue fails because the record establishes that the Guests failed to timely present the May 6, 2013 declaration to the trial court prior to the entry of the Order on Summary Judgment and then failed to timely file a motion for reconsideration in an effort to bring the evidence to the trial court's attention. Having failed on both accounts, the trial court did not err in not considering the evidence or argument and in not modifying the Order on Summary Judgment finding that the Langes had the right to rebuild in and occupy the area within the Patio or Deck Easement.

When considering an appeal from an order granting a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court may only consider the evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court. RAP 9.12. All documents or evidence called to the attention of the trial court on summary judgment must be designated in the order granting summary judgment. *Id.*, *Green v. Normandy Park*, 137 Wn. App. 665, 677-680, 151 P.3d 1038, 1044-45 (2007) (refusing to consider two declarations designated by the appellant in the clerk's papers because the declarations had not been called to the trial court's attention on summary judgment and they were not listed in the summary judgment order).

Here, while the Guests rely on Ms. Guests' May 6, 2013 declaration for their "evidence" that the Patio or Deck Easement is invalid, they failed to provide any citation to the record to show that they brought this

"evidence" to the trial court's attention before entry of the Order finding that the Langes had the right to rebuild in and occupy the area within the Patio or Deck Easement. Indeed, the Order on Summary Judgment does *not* designate Ms. Guests' May 6, 2013 declaration as having been brought to the trial court's attention prior to entry of the Order. RAP 9.12 instructs that this Court cannot consider Ms. Guests' May 6, 2013 declaration or the purported "evidence" contained therein. Since this is the only "evidence" upon which the Guests' rely to argue that the trial court erred in not considering their evidence or arguments and in not modifying the Order finding that the Langes had the right to rebuild in and occupy the area within the Patio or Deck Easement, the Guests' appeal on this issue fails.

Furthermore, review of the record confirms that the Guests did *not* raise any issue as to the validity of the Patio or Deck Easement at the May 6, 2013 presentment hearing for entry of the orders on the summary judgment motions.⁸⁷ The Guests did not advise the trial court that day that they had evidence that they believed would prove that the Patio or Deck

⁸⁶ The only declaration authored by Ms. Guest designated in the Order on Summary Judgment is Ms. Guest's declaration dated April 17, 2014, which was filed two days before oral argument on the motions for summary judgment. CP 728-796. That declaration did not address the validity of the Patio or Deck Easement. Indeed, because the May 6, 2013 CR 56(f) declaration had not been filed as of the time of the presentment hearing, it could not have been designated in the order.

⁸⁷ RP (May 6, 2013), pps. 1-42.

Easement was invalid. Having failed to present any such argument or evidence to the trial court for consideration, there is simply no basis upon which the Guests' can argue that the trial court erred in not considering the evidence and not modifying its Order on Summary Judgment.

Even if the Guests filed the May 6, 2013 declaration with the trial court at the time of the presentment hearing, it was, nonetheless, too late. A party opposing a motion for summary judgment is required to file responding documents at least eleven (11) calendar days prior to the hearing on the motion for summary judgment. CR 56(c). Late-filed affidavits are properly excluded where the proponent of the evidence "ha[s] no excuse for failing to address the issues in prior materials submitted to the court." Brown v. Peoples Mortg. Co., 48 Wn. App. 554, 560, 739 P.2d 1188, 1192 (1987). A trial court's decision to accept or reject untimely filed pleadings and declarations is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Clipse v. Commercial *Driver Servs., Inc.,* ___ Wn. App. ___, __ P.3d ___, No. 45407-6-II, 2015 WL 5023388, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 25, 2015), citing *Davies v. Holy* Family Hosp., 144 Wn. App. 483, 499, 183 P.3d 283, 291 (2008). Here, the Guests offered no excuse, either at the trial court level or on appeal, for their failure to address the alleged invalidity of the Patio or Deck Easement in their summary judgment opposition papers filed three weeks earlier. Thus, even if the Guests had timely presented the declaration, having failed to

offer any excuse for failing to present the evidence in a timely fashion, the trial court would not have abused its discretion by refusing to consider it.⁸⁸

Finally, while the Guests argue on appeal that they "revisited" the validity of the Patio or Deck Easement in connection with their motion in limine and when addressing proposed jury instructions, again, nothing in the record establishes that they presented their evidence or argument to the trial court. Even if they had, any such attempt to revisit the issue came too late. When a party believes it has new evidence that would alter an Order on Summary Judgment, that party must file a motion for reconsideration within 10 days of the entry of the Order and establish that the "new evidence" was not previously available. CR 59(b).⁸⁹ If a party fails to timely move for reconsideration under Civil Rule 59, that party is precluded

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